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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Ruffin-Roulhac House was built about 1820 by Martin Hanks as a one-
and-a-half-story frame dwelling with a side-hall plan two rooms deep. Ten
years later Frances Blount added two rooms to the east side, creating the
present center-passage plan. Several minor alterations wre accomplished

since the 1830 addition.

The house, covered with molded weatherboards, rests on a half basement
of brick laid in common bond. On both the front and rear slopes of the roof

facade is five bays wide with a central entrance protected by a one-bay
twentieth century replacement porch. The wall under the porch is flush-sided
.and framed by original Doric pilasters. The entrance contains a flat-paneled
double door flanked by sidelights and surmounted by a shallow blind lunette.
Surrounding the door and the sidelights is a symmetrically molded architrave
with plain cornerblocks. The large windows, containing nine-over-nine sash,
provide the only noticeable indication of the different dates of construction

the windows are set high above the foundation and have slightly molded sills)
while those to the east (the ca. 1830 section) are set at least ten inches
lower and have plain square sills.

The pedimented west gable contains four bays and a pair of interior end
chimneys which rise on either side of a large central double window in the
tympanum. All bays at the first level originally contained windows, bubt now
a small gable roof addition housing a bathroom encloses the third bay, and

a covered basement entrance has been added below the fourth bay.

The east side, which is not pedimented, is dominated by a massive
double-shoulder exterior chimmsy of brick laid in common bond. The chimney
is flanked by narrow eight-pane casement windows in the gable. At the first
lewvel, early twentieth century additions enclose the front and rear bays.

Protecting the three west bays on the rear (north) facade is a twentieth
century shed porch supported by stuccoed molded brick columms. This, like
the front porch, appears to be a replacement for an earlier porch since the
wall under it is sided with original flush weatherboards. The placement of
the windows on this facade is similar to tke front, but the central entrance
contains a single flat-paneled door framed only by a molded architrave.

The interior shows an interesting and generally successful blend of
elements of Federal, Greek Revival, and Victorian elements. The main hall
is guite wide and has walls plastersd above an unusually high wainscot
consisting of a horizontal range of flat panels above a vertical one. The
Federal-style stair, rising from the rear of the hall, has treads adorned
with delicate scroll brackets and a rampzd balustrade with balusters square
in section and a rounded handrail. The wainscot continuess up the stair and
repeats the line of the balustrade.

about 1908, but the main block of the house has remained essentially unchanged

are three gable dormers containing six-pane casement windows. The main (south)

on the main facade. To the west of the central entrance (the ca. 1820 sectiqn)

More obvious differences arise when the east and west sides are compared.
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The two west parlors contain both Federal and Greek Revival motifs. The
southwest room, originally the main parlor, has walls plastered above a wainsc
similar to that in the hall. The windows are bordered by early Greek Revival
architraves adorned with cornerblocks and rondels. Extending to the baseboard
the architraves frame a single flat panel beneath each window. The three-part
mantel has a crossetted architrave and slender engaged Doric colonettes. An
unusual feature is the addition of projecting horizontal bands semicircular
in section that connect the end blocks with the central tablet. The mantel
is flanked by a pair of high arched openings framed by molded architraves with
keystones. FEach leads to a small room lighted by a single window and ,containi
built-in book shelves. A4 large flush-paneled double door located in the morth
wall opens into the northwest room. This room was the dining area and was
finished in the same manner as the main parlor. Minor changes were made in th
room when the house was expanded.

The east rooms are much less elaborate with molded cornices and heavy
baseboards accenting the plaster walls. The windows and doors have molded
architraves with cornerblocks and rondels which are copies of the older trim
in the west section. The doors in these rooms are typically Greek Revival with
two long vertical flat panels on each, while the doors in the earlier section
contain six flat panels. Each east room contains a corner fireplace with a
Victorian replacement mantel which does not comlement the Greek Revival trim.

The attic contains two rooms divided by a central stair kill. The west
room appears to have been partitioned originally into two rooms, each with a
separate fireplace, but only the south mantel remains. Theeast room is
similarly finished with plaster walls but contains a single fireplace with a
simple mantel consisting of a horizontal flat panel below a molded shelf.

The jard behind the house contains an interesting group of outbuildings,
including an office, carriage house, meat house, and slave quarters. The
buildings are all frame and in fair to good condition except for the carriage
house, which is in ruins. The many young deciduous trees in the yard provide
a wooded setting that enhances the architectural beauty of the house.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The oldest part of the Ruffin-Roulhac house is thought to have been
built about 1820 by Martin Hanks on lot 181, which he had purchased from
the commissioners of the town of Hillsborough at a public sale. Hanks
sold the lot in March, 1823, to William H. Phillips for $650. This price
indicates that a house stood on the property at this time even though the
deed from the commissioners to Hanks has not been found.

Two years later Phillips sold the house to Francis Lister Hawks, the
grandson of the John Hawks who designed Tryon Palace at New Bern. Francis
Hawks had a distinguished and varied career. As a young man in New Bern
he went into law and-served as a member of the General Assembly. After.
moving to Hillsborough he was reporter to the state supreme court (1820-
1826). It was while he lived in Hillsborough that he "determined to
abandon law for the pulpit." He studied theology under Reverend William
Mercer Green, rector of St. Matthew's parish in Hillsborough. It has
been suggested that Hawks may have designed St. Matthew's Church (built
1825-1826) . He was ordained as deacon by Bishop John Stark Ravenscroft
in 1827 and as priest soon after. During the years that followed he served
as rector in many parishes from Connecticut to Louisiana, and was elected
first president of the University of Louisiana. Hawks also gained considey-
able prominence as a writer and historian, being the author of many works
of the early history of the Episcopal church in America, several biographies -
and a history of North Carolina. ’

By September, 1830, Walker Anderson, an agent of Hawks in Hillsborough,
had sold the house to Frances Blount. She is thought to hawve been renting
the house for some time before she purchased it. Miss Blount, who bought
the adjacent lot (180) as well in 1830, enlarged the main block of the
house to its present size shortly after she acquired it.

In December, 1865, Paul C. Cameron bought Frances Blount Hill's house
in Hillsborough along with lots 181 and 180 for Thomas Ruffin. In November,
1866, Ruffin bought lots 177, 178, 179, 20L, 205, and 206 (which adjoined
his house) from Pride Jones. Thomas Ruffin, a distinguished jurist, served
in the state legislature in the years 1813, 1815, and 1816, and was chosen
speaker the latter year. Inthe same year he was elected judge of the
superior court, in which capacity he served two years being appointed to
the North Carolina Suprems Court, a position he held until he resigned in
1852. He was selected once more in 1856 but retired permanently in 1858.
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Although opposed to secession, he chose to "follow the fortunes of his state!
and voted for withdrawal at the state convention held in Raleigh. Ruffin,
who referred to fhe house he lived in after the Civil War as "Little Hawfields"
in memory of his Hawfields plantation, died in 1870, leaving the house and
lot to his wife, Anne M. Ruffin. In the same year Anne Ruffin completed
a transaction begun before her husband's death, buying lots 202 and 203. Afte
this purchase the Ruffin property included an entire Hock of city property,

approximately ten acres, which remains intact today. Anne M. Ruffin, who died

in 1875, left the house and lots to her children. It was used by various
members of the family until the twentieth century.

Under a judgement of the superior court, March term, 190L,.Allen J. Ruffi
was appointed commissioner to transfer the title to "the old Ruffin place
containing 10 acres' to Mrs. Nannie Russell Roulhac of Rockingham County for
$100 in cash and a promissory note for $1,L55 secured by a mortgage on the
land. Mrs. Roulhac, who remodeled the house considerably, died in 1909. The
property was inherited by her son, William Sterling Roulhac. Roulhac died in
1951 leaving the property to his wife, Charlotte Trant Roulhac, who is the
present owner.

The city of Hillsborough is curriently negotiating for the purchasing of
the property. Plans have been made to restore the building for use as city
government offices.

The Ruffin-Roulhac House is a valuable example of the transition from
Federal to Greek Revival architectural styles in North Carolina. The ca.
1820 building date makes the house one of the earliest known dwellings in the
state contining sophisticated Greek Revival motifs. It is historically signi
ficant as the residence of two of North Carolina's most prominent men. It wae
the home of Francis L. Hawks during the time when he changed from a career in
law to that in which he would become outstanding, theology. Thomas Ruffin
lived there after his retirement from an illustrious career as a jurist.

3

i

S}




?. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Engstrom, Mary Claire, "The Ruffin-Roulhac House." An unpublished report,

State Department of Archives and History,

National Cyclopedia of American Biography. . . .

Company, 1893 to present.

Orange County Records, Orange County Courthouse,

Office of the Register of Deeds.

Raleigh, North Carolina.
New York: J. T. White

(Subgroups: Deds, Wills).

Hillsborough, North Caroling,

and

|10, GEOGRAPHICALDATA = .

LATITUDE AND LONGITUBE COGRDIMATES

LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES
DEFINING A RECTANGLE LOCATING THE PROPERTY O DEFINING THE CENTER POINT OF A PROPERTY
- OF LESS THAN TEN ACRES
34
CORNER LATITUDE LONGITUDE LATITUDE ‘ LONGITUDE
Degrees Minutes Seconds |Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees  Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds
NW o , " ° ' " 36 o O)—!- , LLB " 79 ° OS ’ S ”»
NE [+] ’ o o ’ » 7
SE o v " [e] ’ "
W o ' w ° ’ »

APPROXIMATE ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY: Five ACI’@S

[LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES

STATE: CODE | COUNTY CODE
STATE: CODE | COUNTY: CODE
STATE: CODE | COUNTY: CODE
STATE: CODE | COUNTY: CODE

FORM PREPAR

NAME AND TITLE:

Survey and Planning Unit, John Wells,

ITT, Supervisor

ORGANIZATION

State Department of Archives and History
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19 July 1971
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in the National Register and certify that it has been
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National Register.
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